FIRST60 2024

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

FIRST60: Prehospital, Trauma, Resuscitation Sciences







Contents

- 01. Our Story
- **02.** Welcome from our Co-Founders
- **03.** Program Update
- **04.** Our Investigators
- 05. Our Collaborators
- 06. Our Studies
- **07.** Program Management
- **08.** Achievements and Awards
- 09. Grants
- 10. Our Trainees
- 12. Publications
- 12. Our Year



Our Story

The FIRST60 represents an inter-professional team of clinicians, researchers, and trainees seeking to understand and improve care from time of injury or illness to acute resuscitation. We specialize in resuscitation sciences and prehospital research, ranging from traumatic injuries to cardiac arrests.





Why the FIRST60?

Prehospital trauma and resuscitation investigators are spread across various institutions and regions, each possessing unique interests, expertise, and resources. While successful in their own right, we envisioned the impact of uniting these individual programs through collaboration. The strategic alliance of FIRST60 is already making its mark as a world-class leader in resuscitation science, specializing in emergent prehospital care of trauma and cardiac arrest patients.

www.first60.ca

Welcome from our Co-Founders

Wow. What an extraordinary journey this inaugural year has been!

It started with a pivotal strategic retreat held in a classroom at the Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute in May 2023, convening investigators and clinicians with a shared passion for advancing prehospital care, trauma, and resuscitation science. This assembly brought together experts spanning various clinical disciplines, including emergency medicine, surgery, transfusion, paramedicine, and nursing, complemented by specialists in knowledge translation, quality improvement, education, and clinical epidemiology. Recognizing that saving lives requires more than just rigorous research, our mission crystallized around the imperative to translate science into bedside practice: to understand and improve care from the time of injury to illness or acute resuscitation.

In the realm of trauma, the notion of the "golden hour" resonates deeply: the critical window within which patients receiving specialized care within the first hour of injury are more likely to survive. Our group's name, FIRST60, pays homage to this principle, anchoring our collective efforts in the pivotal first 60 minutes following injury or illness.

Summarizing the myriad achievements and diligent efforts of FIRST60 over the past year is no small feat. Nonetheless, several milestones stand out prominently:

- Launch of the EpiDOSE cardiac arrest clinical trial.
- Establishment of our online presence with the launch of our website (www.first60.ca) and Twitter/X handle @FIRST60_resus.
- Implementation of trauma video review and commencement of the PrO-STAT (Prospective observational study of safety threats and adverse events in trauma) study.
- Successful completion of three PhD transfer exams by our graduate students.

We are profoundly grateful for the opportunity to showcase our accomplishments and the impact we've made on our patients, our team, and our healthcare system over the past year. None of this would have been possible without the steadfast support of our frontline clinicians, grant agencies, and generous donors. While reports and metrics may inadequately convey the unwavering dedication, commitment, and hustle of FIRST60, we eagerly anticipate the remarkable achievements that undoubtedly lie ahead in the next 12 months.

Drs. Steve Lin and Brodie Nolan



Dr. Steve Lin MD MSc FRCPC FIRST60 Co-Founder



Dr. Brodie Nolan MD MSc FRCPC FIRST60 Co-Founder

5

Program Update

DR. BRODIE NOLAN



Dr. Nolan is an emergency physician and trauma team leader at St. Michael's Hospital, as well as a transport medicine physician for Ornge, Ontario's air ambulance and critical care transport organization. He is also an Assistant Professor in the Department of Medicine at the University of Toronto and as a Scientist in the Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute at Unity Health Toronto. Dr. Nolan is a founding member of FIRST60 and Chairs the Research and Scholarly Activities Committee at Ornge. His research interests span trauma, prehospital care, transfusion, and patient safety, with a focus on improving timely access to trauma care, exploring novel transfusion therapies, and leveraging artificial intelligence to enhance trauma resuscitation.

Launching of Trauma Video Review and Pro-STAT

One of Dr. Nolan's notable achievements this year is the launch of the Prospective Observational Study of Safety Threats and Adverse events in Trauma (Pro-STAT), a culmination of four years of work. He developed the Safety Threats and Adverse Events in Trauma (STAT) taxonomy, comprising 65 metrics over nine categories, to standardize the evaluation of latent safety threats and adverse events in trauma resuscitation. Dr. Nolan validated the taxonomy through in-situ simulation and video-recorded trauma resuscitations. In August 2023, Dr. Nolan launched the trauma video review research program, exploring how team performance and safety threats in the trauma bay affect downstream patient outcomes. The study has been enrolling with incredible success (and plenty of hard work from PhD student Anisa Nazir) and there are new international partnerships on the horizon. We're looking forward to sharing our findings in the upcoming year.

Introducing TRAUMA AI: Augmenting Trauma Resuscitation

In collaboration with Dr. Michelle Sholzberg, Dr. Nolan pitched TRAUMA AI, a groundbreaking artificial intelligence system, at Angel's Den, Canada's premier medical research competition hosted by the St. Michael's Hospital Foundation. TRAUMA AI will be engineered to analyze real-time patient vital signs and laboratory results, providing actionable personalized transfusion strategies for massively bleeding patients. Dr. Nolan leads this transformative initiative, supported by Dr. Muhammad Mamdani and the Data Science and Advanced Analytics team at Unity Health Toronto, with plans to launch a pilot version in the upcoming year.

Driving Change in Prehospital Trauma Triage

Timely access to trauma centers is paramount in saving lives. However, for Canadians, geographical constraints often impede prompt trauma care. Dr. Nolan is actively investigating the effectiveness and efficiency of the Ontario Field Trauma Triage Standard, which guides paramedics in determining which patients should be directly transported to a trauma centre. Moreover, Dr. Nolan is advocating for revisions to the provincial Field Trauma Triage Standard to ensure alignment with the latest evidence-based practices. Additionally, Dr. Nolan is spearheading the development of a prehospital transfusion prediction score, overseen by PhD student Melissa O'Neill. This innovative score aims to identify patients experiencing massive bleeding in the prehospital setting, enabling paramedics to promptly alert the receiving trauma team for enhanced preparedness and improved patient outcomes.

SWiFT Canada: Pioneering Prehospital Transfusion Trials in Canada

Dr. Nolan is Principal Investigator for Study of Whole blood in Frontline Trauma, SWiFT Canada. Over the next year, this pilot study will assess prehospital whole blood versus component therapy (red blood cells + plasma) in traumatic hemorrhage for patients transported by air ambulance. Dr. Nolan is orchestrating this trial and establishment of a collaborative prehospital trauma network with the involvement of Ornge Air Ambulance, Canadian Blood Services and 6 lead trauma hospitals in Southern Ontario, marking a historic milestone as Canada's inaugural prehospital transfusion clinical trial.



DR. STEVE LIN

Dr. Lin is the Interim Chief of the Department of Emergency Medicine and Scientist at St. Michael's Hospital. He is an Associate Professor in the Department of Medicine with appointments at the Institute of Health Policy, Management and Evaluation, and the Institute of Medical Science at the University of Toronto. He is also an Adjunct Professor in the Department of Physics at the Toronto Metropolitan University. Dr. Lin's translational research program aims to improve resuscitation and outcomes in cardiac arrest patients. He is the Co-Principal Investigator of the CIHR-funded CanROC Epinephrine Dose: Optimal Versus Standard Evaluation (EpiDOSE) randomized controlled trial (www.epidose.ca). He has over 100 publications, over 2900 citations and an H-index of 26. He has held over \$8.3M in peer-reviewed operating funds, of which over \$4.4M as Principal Investigator.

Dr. Lin is also an Advanced Cardiac Life Support medical director and instructor at the Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada, and is currently the medical director of the ACLS education program at Unity Health Toronto.



BEYOND RESTARTING THE HEART

There are over ~40,000 cardiac arrests each year in Canada and more than 90% of these people die due to brain death. The brain is especially vulnerable to low oxygen levels during cardiac arrest and brain injury is the final cause of death and disability for many cardiac arrest patients. Cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) helps to pump blood and oxygen to vital organs when the heart has stopped. The goal of CPR has shifted from not only restarting the heart but to improving brain recovery. However, there is no standard method to measure how much blood and oxygen is going to the brain, particularly in real life patients during cardiac arrest. Our research program is focused on how to evaluate CPR interventions and techniques in preclinical studies. In collaboration with Dr. Vladislav Toronov from Toronto Metropolitan University, we are developing near-infrared techniques to measure real time brain oxygen levels and brain cell metabolism. Near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) may help optimize goal-directed brain resuscitation and individualize patient care during cardiac arrest.

EPINEPHRINE DOSE: OPTIMAL VS. STANDARD EVALUATION TRIAL

Epinephrine (also known as adrenaline) has been used to treat cardiac arrest for more than 50 years. Recently, there have been concerns amongst doctors, nurses, paramedics, and patients that epinephrine may be harmful when used during cardiac arrest resuscitation, particularly with higher doses. The EpiDOSE trial is a prospective, multicentre, randomized controlled trial evaluating the effectiveness of a low cumulative dose (up to 2mg) of epinephrine compared to a standard dose (up to 6mg) of epinephrine during resuscitation from ventricular fibrillation (VF) or ventricular tachycardia (VT) in adult out-of-hospital cardiac arrest patients. The EpiDOSE trial is working in collaboration with the emergency medical services associated with the Canadian Resuscitation Outcomes Consortium (CanROC) and is funded by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR).

NAVIGATING NALOXONE: ADDRESSING UNCERTAINTIES IN OVERDOSE RESPONSE

Opioid related deaths remain a public health crisis in Canada. Keys to the management of opioid overdoses include early recognition, early airway and circulatory support, and early administration of naloxone. If these are successful, cardiac arrest can be avoided and patients can be discharged after appropriate observations. However, the role of naloxone in patients who suffer cardiac arrest after overdose is less clear. It is difficult to recommend the appropriate dosing of naloxone to pre-hospital providers and emergency clinicians, as it is not clear which dose is optimal in cardiac arrest situations, nor is it clear what the risk/benefits of naloxone administration are. Our goal is to develop a risk prediction tool to identify the optimal dose for naloxone administration in suspected opioid overdoses, helping inform clinical trials that will allow emergency health care providers to have the best possible chance of resuscitating someone who has an opioid related cardiac arrest.



Our Investigators



DR. JOHANNES VON VOPELIUS-FELDT

Dr. Vopelius-Feldt is an emergency physician and trauma team leader at St. Michael's Hospital and a transport medicine physician for Ornge. He is an assistant professor in the Department of Medicine at the University of Toronto and Scientist at the Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute, Unity Health Toronto. His education spans Scotland, Germany and most recently England. He completed a PhD funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR UK, over \$300,000) on the topic of prehospital critical care for cardiac arrest. He is first author on over 10 publications relating to various aspects of prehospital critical care and completed a fellowship in prehospital critical care at the University of Toronto.

Dr. Drennan is a Paramedic Scientist, and an Assistant Professor in the Department of Family and Community Medicine (DFCM) and the Institute of Health Policy, Management and Evaluation (IHPME) and Associate Director of the Paramedicine Collaborative at DFCM at the University of Toronto. He is an Affiliate Scientist position at the Department of Emergency Services, Sunnybrook Health Sciences Centre and Adjunct Scientist, Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute, Unity Health Toronto.

Dr. Drennan is the current vice-chair of the Advanced Life Support (ALS) Task Force for the International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation (ILCOR) and co-chair of the Basic Life Support chapter of the American Heart Association 2025 Guidelines for Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care.



DR. IAN DRENNAN



DR. ANDREW BECKETT

Dr. Beckett is a trauma surgeon, critical care physician, and Medical Director of the St. Michael's Hospital Trauma Program. He is also a Lieutenant-Colonel in the Royal Canadian Medical Service, having served multiple military missions overseas. He has spent nearly two decades in the Canadian Forces, first as a paramedic and then as a trauma surgeon. He holds active positions in the Canadian Armed Forces, including Chief of General Surgery, Trauma Advisor to the Surgeons. General and a Senior Advisor on the Canadian Forces Health Services' blood program. Dr. Beckett has a master's in clinical epidemiology from the University of Toronto and is a graduate of the Critical Care fellowship program.

Dr. Petrosoniak is an emergency physician and trauma team leader at St. Michael's Hospital and an Assistant Professor in the Department of Medicine at the University of Toronto. He is an Education Scientist in the Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute and the Translational Simulation and Clinical Integration Lead with the Simulation Program at Unity Health Toronto. He has completed a Master of Science in medical education where he focused on the use of in situ simulation (practice in the actual workplace) in procedural skill acquisition. His work focuses on using simulation to help design clinical infrastructure and improve patient safety. His other areas of research involves understanding how rare, life-saving procedures can be best taught and practiced using simulation.



DR. ANDREW PETROSONIAK



DR. GARRICK MOK

Dr. Garrick Mok is an emergency physician, trauma team leader, and deputy chief of the emergency department at St. Michael's Hospital. He is an assistant professor in the Department of Medicine at the University of Toronto.

Dr. Mok completed a Master of Science in Quality Improvement and Patient Safety at the University of Toronto, where he focused on improving the use of patient portals after ED visits.

Dr. Mok's research interests are in measuring and improving the quality of CPR in ED cardiac arrests, use of artificial intelligence tools in the ED, and improving environmental sustainability in the ED.



DR. SHELDON CHESKES

Dr. Sheldon Cheskes is a Professor with the Division of Emergency Medicine, Department of Family and Community Medicine at the University of Toronto, and a scientist at the Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute at St. Michael's Hospital in Toronto, Ontario, Canada. He is the Medical Director for the Regions of Halton and Peel with the Sunnybrook Centre for Prehospital Medicine. He is one of the principal investigators for the Canadian Resuscitation Outcomes Consortium (CanROC) and is a recognized international authority in the area of CPR quality and out-of-hospital cardiac arrest resuscitation. Dr. Cheskes has published over 100 manuscripts in high impact journals such as the New England Journal of Medicine, Circulation, CMAJ and Resuscitation that have changed resuscitation practice around the world.

Dr. Rohit Mohindra is an emergency medicine doctor and researcher focusing on refugee health, cardiac arrest care in marginalized populations, and AI in emergency medicine. His goal is to help people get the best care they need when they need it most. As the site lead for SREMI at NYGH he is also heavily involved in building research infrastructure and networks to improve the success of research projects. His academic appointments include Clinical Investigator for the Department of Medicine at the University of Toronto, Affiliate Scientist at the Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute at St. Michael's Hospital, Clinician Scientist at the Schwartz Reisman Emergency Medical and Associate Professor of Biomedical Engineering at Toronto Metropolitan University Faculty of Engineering and Architectural Science.



DR. ROHIT MOHINDRA



DR. SAMUEL VAILLANCOURT

Dr. Samuel Vaillancourt is a specialist emergency physician and trauma team leader practicing at St. Michael's Hospital. He is currently an Associate Scientist at the Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute of St. Michael's Hospital. He is interested in the potential for data and patient-community participation to improve care integration and outcome. He currently leads a project on developing a patient-reported outcome measure for emergency care. From 2013-2015, he was a health policy research fellow under the supervision of Andreas Laupacis and Michael Schull. He also worked as an innovation fellow at Women's College Hospital's Women's College Hospital Institute for Health System Solutions and Virtual Care (WIHV) on the creation of an innovation incubator and the application of design thinking methodology to healthcare.

Our Collaborators



Dr. Morgan Hillier



Dr. Michelle Sholzberg



Dr. Yulia Lin



Dr. Luis Teodoro da Luz



Dr. Vladislav Toronov



Dr. Christopher Hicks



Dr. Joao Rezende Neto



Dr. John Marshall



Dr. Muhammad Mamdani



Dr. Katerina Pavenski



Dr. Ori Rotstein



Dr. David Gomez

Our Collaborators



Dr. Katie Dainty



Dr. Katherine Allan



Dr. Timothy Chan



Dr. Michael Peddle



Dr. Saswata Deb



Dr. Kanwal Singh

Our Studies



SWiFT Canada: Study of Whole Blood in Frontline Trauma

A trial of the clinical and cost-effectiveness of prehospital whole blood administration versus standard care for traumatic hemorrhage.

www.first60.ca/current-studies/swift/

EpiDOSE: Epinephrine Dose – Optimal vs Standard Evaluation Trial

A pivotal clinical trial comparing the usual dose of epinephrine to a lower dose during the treatment of adults experiencing cardiac arrest. www.epidose.ca





PROMPT: Partial REBOA Outcomes Multicentre ProspecTive Study

A multi-centre prospective observational study of noncompressible torso hemorrhage (NCTH) patients being treated with the pREBOA-PRO $^{\text{\tiny M}}$ catheter for partial or full occlusion as standard of care.

Resuscitation Repository and Research DataBase (R3DB)

A database for out-of-hospital resuscitation research, in collaboration with Emergency Medical Services (EMS) and Fire Services across the Greater Toronto and Horseshoe Area.

www.resuscitationresearch.com



Resuscitation Repository Research Database

Program Administration



PROGRAM MANAGER Melissa McGowan

Melissa has over 15 years of experience managing large, dynamic research programs and projects while fostering collaborative relationships. She has led National and International projects and programs across translational pediatric and adult medicine. This work has contributed to improved patient outcomes and experiences, while simultaneously affording the opportunity to mentor countless students, trainees, research staff and clinicians.



DATA MANAGER Courtney Truong

Courtney has 10 years of experience in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest research at St. Michael Hospital. She currently manages the Resuscitation Repository & Research Database (R3DB) and the Canadian Resuscitation Outcomes Consortium Registry (CanROC Registry). Her work supports quality improvement, observational studies, and serves as a foundation for clinical trials in sudden cardiac arrest.



PROJECT MANAGER Emma O'Neil

Emma began her journey in emergency trauma in 2019 as a summer student, quickly transitioning to a Research Assistant role where she contributed to a variety of research projects. Amidst the COVID-19 pandemic, Emma worked as a Materials and Equipment Coordinator in the Emergency Department and later as a Project Administrator in Research Facilities. In November 2023, she joined the FIRST60 group as a Project Manager.

Achievements and Awards

Appointed Interim Chief of Department of Emergency Medicine at St. Michael's Hospital

University of Toronto Department of Medicine Clinician-Scientist Merit Award

Nominated for Anna Jarvis Award for Teaching Dr. Steve Lin Excellence in Emergency Medicine

Appointed Research Lead for the Division of Emergency Dr. Steve Lin Medicine, University of Toronto

Top 5 Canadian Journal of Emergency Medicine with Dr. Steve Lin highest Altmetric score

Graham Farguharson Knowledge Translation Fellowship - Physician Services Incorporated

Appointed Affiliate Scientist at the Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute at St. Michael's Hospital

Citizen CPR Foundation Top 40 Under 40 Class of 2023 **Bianca Mammarella**

Appointed Adjunct Scientist at the Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute at St. Michael's Hospital

Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians Ian Stiell Researcher of the Year

St. Michael's Hospital Holmes-McInnes Research Student Leadership Award for Excellence and Community Building

Dr. Steve Lin

Dr. Steve Lin

Dr. Brodie Nolan

Dr. Rohit Mohindra

Dr. lan Drennan

Dr. Sheldon Cheskes

Anisa Nazir

Theresa Aves

Grants

Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians (CAEP) **Dr. Steve Lin** \$10,000 CAD

St. Michael's Hospital Medical Services Association Dr. Steve Lin

\$33,334 CAD

\$35,100 CAD

\$10,000 CAD

2023 CBS Blood Efficiency Accelerator Program
\$30,000 CAD

Dr. Brodie Nolan

St. Michael's Hospital Foundation. Angel's Den

\$25,000 CAD

Dr. Brodie Nolan, Dr. Michelle
Sholzberg

University of Toronto EMHSeed Funding Program \$120,000 CAD Dr. Brodie Nolan, Dr. Johannes von Vopelius Feldt

Zoll Foundation Dr. Brodie Nolan \$50,000 USD

Laerdal Foundation Dr. Brodie Nolan \$50.000 USD

Veteran Affairs Canada **Dr. Brodie Nolan** \$700,000 CAD

St. Michael's Hospital Medical Services Association

\$27,900 CAD

Dr. Brodie Nolan

St. Michael's Hospital Medical Services Association Dr. Johannes von Vopelius Feldt

Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians (CAEP) Dr. Johannes von Vopelius Feldt

Trauma Association of Canada (TAC)

\$5,000 CAD

Dr. Johannes von Vopelius Feldt

St. Michael's Hospital Medical Services Association Dr. Garrick Mok \$27,900 CAD

Total Grant Money Held

\$3,669,434

Our Trainees



Anisa Nazir PhD



Theresa AvesPhD



Pierre-Marc Dion BScInf, IA



Melissa O'Neill PhD



Hania Siddiqui MSc



Gemma Postill MD/PhD



Vinyas Harish PhD



Bianca MammarellaBSc



Fayad Al-Haimus PGY 3



Adam Greene PhD



Nima Khalifehsoltani PhD



Aron ShoaraPostdoc

Publications

PREHOSPITAL CARE

- 1. Feldman M, Bahaidarah F, Rahimi M, Howaidi S, Turner L, Verbeek PR, Cantor W, **Cheskes S, Drennan I,** Gilmartin K. Safety and adverse events during primary care paramedic interfacility transfer of stable STEMI patients. Prehospital Emergency Care. 2024 Apr 11:1-9.
- 2. **Greene A, Dion PM, Nolan B,** Trachter R, Vu E, Trojanowski J. Overcoming distance: an exploration of current practices of government and charity-funded critical care transport and retrieval organizations. Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med. 2023 Oct 3;31(1):52.
- 3. Krugliak N, Gagnon K, Sawadsky B, Lewell M, **McGowan M, Nolan B.** The Role of Paramedics in Disclosure of Patient Safety Incidents: A Mixed Methods Study. Air Medical Journal. 2023 Dec 7.
- 4. Larsen K, **Nolan B, Gomez D.** A system in crisis: exploring how recent emergency department closures influence potential access to emergency care in Ontario. Can J Emerg Med 25, 218–223 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1007/s43678-023-00460-y
- 5. Menchetti I, Muzzo M, Malo C, Ackery A, Nemeth J, Rao J, Engels PT, Vogt K, Razek T, **Beckett A, da Luz L.** Who are the trauma team leaders across Canada? A national survey evaluating the profession in adult and pediatric level one trauma centres. CJEM. 2023 Oct 18. Online ahead of print.
- 6. Myers V, Slack M, Ahghari M, **Nolan B.** Correlating Simulation Training and Assessment With Clinical Performance: A Feasibility Study. Air Medical Journal. 2024 Feb 2.
- 7. Radulovic N, **Hillier M**, Nisenbaum R, Turner L, **Nolan, B.** (2023). The impact of out-of-hospital time and prehospital intubation on return of spontaneous circulation following resuscitative thoracotomy in traumatic cardiac arrest. Prehospital emergency care. 1-14. 10.1080/10903127.2023.2285390.
- 8. **Von Vopelius-Feldt J**, Peddle M, Lockwood J, Mal S, Sawadsky B, Diamond W, Williams T, Baumber B, VanHouwelingen R, **Nolan B.** The effect of a multi-faceted quality improvement program on paramedic intubation success in the critical care transport environment: a before-and-after study. Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med. 2023;31:9. doi:10.1186/s13049-023-01074-0.
- 9. Willis N, Gagnon K, Wong K, **McGowan M, Nolan B.** Use of Fixed Wing Modified Scene Air Ambulance Responses for Injured Patients in Northern Ontario: A Pilot Study. Air Medical Journal. 2024 Feb 1.
- 10. Zhang T, Nikouline A, Riggs J, **Nolan B,** Pan A, Peddle M, Fan E, Del Sorbo L, Granton J. Outcomes of Patients Transported in the Prone Position to a Regional Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation Center: A Retrospective Cohort Study. Critical Care Explorations. 2023 Jul 1;5(7):e0948.

EMERGENCY CARE

- 1. Larsen K, **Nolan B, Gomez D.** A system in crisis: exploring how recent emergency department closures influence potential access to emergency care in Ontario. Can J Emerg Med 25, 218–223 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1007/s43678-023-00460-y
- 2. **Myers V, Nolan B.** Characteristics associated with delays in decision to transfer injured patients. Trauma. 2023;25(2):115-121. doi:10.1177/14604086211049635
- 3. Riggs J, **McGowan M, Hicks C.** Dream one, do one, teach one: a mental practice script for bougie assisted cricothyrotomy. CJEM. 2023 Dec 9. doi: 10.1007/s43678-023-00630-y.
- 4. Sharif S, Kang J, Sadeghirad B, Rizvi F, Forestell B, Greer A, Hewitt M, Fernando SM, Mehta S, Eltorki M, Siemieniuk R, Duffet M, Bhatt M, Burry L, Perry J, **Petrosoniak A**, Pandharipande P, Welsford M, Rochwerg B. Pharmacological agents for procedural sedation and analgesia in the emergency department and intensive care unit: a systematic review and network meta-analysis of randomised trials. British Journal of Anaesthesia. 2024 Jan 6.
- 5. Tran A, Fernando SM, Rochwerg B, Hawes H, Hameed MS, Dawe P, Garraway N, Evans DC, Kim D, Biffl WL, Inaba K, Engels P, Kubelik D, **Petrosoniak A**, Joos E. Prognostic Factors Associated with Risk of Stroke Following Blunt Cerebrovascular Injury: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Injury. 2024 Jan 14:111319.

CARDIAC ARREST

- 1. **Allan KS**, Mammarella B, Visanji MI, Moglica E, Sadeghlo N, **O'Neil E**, Chan TT, Kishibe T, **Aves T**. Methods to teach schoolchildren how to perform and retain cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) skills: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Resuscitation Plus. 2023 Sep 1;15:100439.
- 2. **Allan, KS.** Mason KL, Garner J, **Dainty KN**, Huyer D, Cunningham K, Dorian P, Lewis KB. "It's overwhelming with the grief" A qualitative study of families' experiences when a young relative dies of sudden cardiac death. Circ: Cardvasc Qual Outcomes 2023.
- 3. Armour R & Ghamarian E, Helmer J, Buick J, Thorpe K, Austin M, Bacon J, Boutet M, Cournoyer A, Dionne R, Goudie M, **Lin S**, Welsford M, Grunau B. (2023). Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Canadian Emergency Medical System Management of Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest: a Retrospective Cohort Study. Resuscitation. 110054. 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2023.110054.
- 4. Corneil H, Liblik K, Varghese SS, Masotti B, Moulson N, McKinney J, **Allan KS**, Phelan D, Thakrar A, Johri AM, Grubic N. Shared Decision-Making in Athletes Diagnosed With a Cardiovascular Condition: A Scoping Review. Curr Probl Cardiol. 2023 May 19;48(10).
- 5. **Dainty KN**, Ng YY, Pek PP, Koster RW, Ong ME. Wolf creek XVII part 4: Amplifying lay-rescuer response. Resuscitation plus. 2024 Mar 1;17:100547.
- 6. Darabi F, Tan NS, **Allan KS, Lin S,** Angaran P, Dorian P. ICD Implantation Rates in Cardiac Arrest Survivors in Canada. CJC Open. 2023 Dec 16.
- 7. Davies B, **Allan KS**, Carroll SL, Gibbs K, Roberts JD, MacIntyre C, Steinberg C, Tadros R, Dorian P, Healey JS, Gardner M, Laksman ZWM, Krahn AD, Fournier A, Seifer C, Lauck SB. Perceived self-efficacy and empowerment in patients at increased risk of sudden cardiac arrest. Front Cardiovasc Med. 2023 May 15.
- 8. Deb S, **Drennan I**, Turner L, **Cheskes S**. Association of Coronary Angiography with ST-Elevation and No ST-Elevation in Patients with Refractory Ventricular Fibrillation A substudy of the DOuble SEquential External Defibrillation for Refractory Ventricular Fibrillation (DOSE-VF Randomized Control Trial). Resuscitation. 2024 Mar 4:110163.
- 9. Douma MJ, Myhre C, Ali S, Graham TA, Ruether K, Brindley PG, **Dainty KN**, Smith KE, Montgomery CL, Dennet L, Picard C. What are the care needs of families experiencing sudden cardiac arrest? A survivorand family-performed systematic review, qualitative meta-synthesis, and clinical practice recommendations. Journal of Emergency Nursing. 2023 Sep 21.
- 10. **Drennan IR**, Thorpe KE, **Cheskes S**, Mamdani M, Scales D, Morrison LJ. Predicting Survival Post-Cardiac Arrest: An Observational Cohort Study. Resuscitation Plus. 2023. 15; 100447.
- 11. **Drennan IR,** McLeod SL, **Cheskes S.** Randomized controlled trials in resuscitation. Resuscitation Plus. 2024 Jun 1;18:100582.
- 12. Grubic N, Hill B, **Allan KS**, Maximova K, Banack HR, Del Rios M, Johri AM. Mediators of the association between socioeconomic status and survival after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: A systematic review. Canadian Journal of Cardiology. 2024 Jan 10.
- 13. Grubic N, Hill B, **Allan KS**, **Dainty KN**, Johri AM, Brooks SC. Community Interventions for Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest in Resource-Limited Settings: A Scoping Review Across Low, Middle, and High-Income Countries. Prehosp Emerg Care. 2023 Jul 18:1-13.
- 14. Hsu CH, Couper K, Nix T, **Drennan I**, Reynolds J, Kleinman M, Berg KM. Calcium during cardiac arrest: A systematic review. Resuscitation Plus. 2023. 14: 100379.
- 15. **Khalifehsoltani N**, Rennie O, **Mohindra R**, **Lin S**, **Toronov V**. (2023). Tracking Cerebral Microvascular and Metabolic Parameters during Cardiac Arrest and Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation. Applied Sciences. 13. 12303. 10.3390/app132212303.
- 16. **Khalifehsoltani N, Toronov V**, Rennie O, **Mohindra R, Lin S.** Investigating cerebral dynamics during cardiac arrest using an optical technique and a hemodynamic model. InDynamics and Fluctuations in Biomedical Photonics XXI 2024 Mar 12 (Vol. 12841, pp. 11-14). SPIE.
- 17. Kwong JL, **Drennan IR**, Turner L, Cheskes S. Pre-defibrillation end-tidal CO2 and defibrillation success in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: an observational cohort study. Emergency Medicine Journal. 2023. 40(1): 48-55.

- 18. Lavonas EJ, Akpunonu PD, Arens AM, Babu KM, Cao D, Hoffman RS, Hoyte CO, Mazer-Amirshahi ME, Stolbach A,... **Drennan IR**; American Heart Association. 2023 American Heart Association Focused Update on the Management of Patients With Cardiac Arrest or Life-Threatening Toxicity Due to Poisoning: An Update to the American Heart Association Guidelines for Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care. Circulation. 2023 Sep 18.
- 19. Loch T, **Drennan IR**, Buick JE, Mercier D, Brindley PG, MacKenzie M, Kroll T, Frazer K, Douma MJ. Caring for the invisible and forgotten: a qualitative document analysis and experience-based co-design project to improve the care of families experiencing out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Canadian Journal of Emergency Medicine. 2023; 25(3): 233-243.
 - Morrison LJ, Sandroni C, Grunau B, Parr M, Macneil F, Perkins GD, Aibiki M, Censullo E, **Lin S**, Neumar RW,
- 20. Brooks SC. Organ donation after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: a scientific statement from the International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation. Circulation. 2023 Sep 5;148(10):e120-46.
- 21. Rahimi M, **Drennan IR**, Turner L, **Cheskes S.** The Impact of Dual Shock Timing During Double Sequential External Defibrillation on Ventricular Fibrillation Termination During Refractory Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest. Resuscitation 194;2024:110082. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resuscitation.2023.110082. Senior Responsible Author.
- 22. Rahimi M, **Drennan IR,** Turner L, Dorian P, **Cheskes S.** The impact of double sequential shock timing on outcomes during refractory out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Resuscitation. 2024 Jan 1;194:110082.
- 23. Visanji MI, **Allan KS, Lin S,** Vaillancourt C, Charette M, Cameron-Dermann L, Donoghue M, Grunau B, Nowroozpoor A, Haines M, Hutton J. MP-453090-1 SPORTS RELATED SUDDEN CARDIAC ARREST IN CANADA: INCIDENCE AND SURVIVAL. Heart Rhythm. 2023 May 1;20(5):S115.
- 24. Zègre-Hemsey JK, **Cheskes S**, Johnson AM, Rosamond WD, Cunningham CJ, Arnold E, Schierbeck S, Claesson A. Challenges & barriers for real-time integration of drones in emergency cardiac care: Lessons from the United States, Sweden, & Canada. Resuscitation Plus. 2024 Mar 1;17:100554.

TRANSFUSION

- 1. **Beckett AN**, Pinkerton PH. Transfusion medicine history illustrated: Lawrence Bruce-Robertson's" syringe and cannula method" set used for blood transfusion in the management of casualties in the First World War, 1914-1918. Transfusion. 2024 Feb 20.
- 2. Blais-Normandin I, Rymer T, Feenstra S, Burry A, Colavecchia C, Duncan J, Farrell M, Greene A, Gupta A, Huynh Q, Lawrence R, Lehto P, Lett R, Lin Y, Lyon B, McCarthy J, Nahirniak S, Nolan B, Peddle M, Prokopchuk-Gauk O, Sham L, Trojanowski J, Shih AW. Current state of technical transfusion medicine practice for out-of-hospital blood transfusion in Canada. Vox Sang. 2023 Oct 5.
- 3. Dion PM, Greene A, Beckett A, von Vopelius-Feldt J, Nolan B. (2023). A comparative analysis of current out-of-hospital transfusion on protocols to expert recommendations. Resuscitation plus. 16. 100498. 10.1016/j.resplu.2023.100498.
- 4. Greene A, Trojanowski J, Shih AW, Evans R, Chang E, Nahirniak S, Pearson D, Prokopchuk-Gauk O, Martin D, Musuka C, Seidl C, Peddle M, Lin Y, Smith J, MacDonald S, Richards L, Farrel M, Nolan B. A descriptive analysis of the Canadian prehospital and transport transfusion (CAN-PATT) network. Resuscitation Plus. 2023 Mar 1;13:100357.
- 5. Peng HT, Moes K, **Singh K**, Rhind SG, Pambrun C, Jenkins C, da Luz L, **Beckett A**. Post-Reconstitution Hemostatic Stability Profiles of Canadian and German Freeze-Dried Plasma. Life. 2024 Jan 24;14(2):172.
- 6. Singh K, Peng HT, Moes K, Kretz CA, Beckett A. Past meets present: Reviving 80-year-old Canadian dried serum from World War II and its significance in advancing modern freeze-dried plasma for prehospital management of haemorrhage. British Journal of Haematology. 2024 Jan 25.
- 7. Sheffield W, **Singh K, Beckett A**, Devine, D. (2023). Prehospital freeze-dried plasma in trauma: A critical review. Transfusion Medicine Reviews. 150807. 10.1016/j.tmrv.2023.150807.
- 8. von Vopelius-Feldt J, Lockwood J, Mal S, Beckett A, Callum J, Greene A, Grushka J, Khandelwal A, Lin Y, Nahirniak S, Pavenski K, Nolan B. Development of a national out-of-hospital transfusion protocol: a modified RAND Delphi study. Canadian Medical Association Open Access Journal. 2023 May 1;11(3):E546-59

TRAUMA RESUSCITATION

- 1. Ali-Mohamad N, Cau MF, Zenova V, Baylis JR, **Beckett A**, McFadden A, Donnellan F, Kastrup CJ. Self-propelling thrombin powder enables hemostasis with no observable recurrent bleeding or thrombosis over 3 days in a porcine model of upper GI bleeding. Gastrointestinal Endoscopy. 2023 Aug 1;98(2):245-8.
- 2. Davis D, McKnight B, Meier E, **Drennan IR**, Newgard C, Wang H, Bulger E, Schreiber M, Austin M, Vaillancourt C. Higher oxygenation is associated with improved survival in severe traumatic brain injury but not traumatic shock. Neurotrauma Reports. 2023; 4(1): 51-63.
- 3. Hamghalam M, Moreland R, **Gomez D**, Simpson A, Lin HM, Jandaghi AB, Tafur M, Vlachou PA, Wu M, Brassil M, Crivellaro P. Machine Learning Detection and Characterization of Splenic Injuries on Abdominal Computed Tomography. Canadian Association of Radiologists Journal. 2024 Jan 8:08465371231221052.
- 4. Kournwsky Dit Kourav R, Gerard R, **Nolan B**, Maugin C, Grèze J. Adaptation of a taxonomy of adverse events in trauma to a specific trauma system setting is an important first step for monitoring and standardization of trauma care. Eur J Trauma Emerg Surg. 2023 Oct;49(5):2321-2322. doi: 10.1007/s00068-023-02336-3. Epub 2023 Aug 3. PMID: 37535096.
- 5. Larsen K, **Nolan B, Gomez D.** A system in crisis: exploring how recent emergency department closures influence potential access to emergency care in Ontario. Can J Emerg Med 25, 218–223 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1007/s43678-023-00460-y
- 6. Menchetti I, Muzzo M, Malo C, Ackery A, Nemeth J, Rao J, Engels PT, Vogt K, Razek T, **Beckett A**, da Luz L. Who are the trauma team leaders across Canada? A national survey evaluating the profession in adult and pediatric level one trauma centres. CJEM. 2023 Oct 18. Online ahead of print.
- 7. **Nazir A**, Baletic N, Dumas R, Fitzgerald C, Xu K, **McGowan M, Nolan B.** (2023). Reliability of the safety threats and adverse events in trauma (STAT) taxonomy using trauma video review. European Journal of Trauma and Emergency Surgery. 1-8. 10.1007/s00068-023-02381-y.
- 8. **Nazir A**, Shore EM, Keown-Stoneman C, Grantcharov T, **Nolan B.** Enhancing patient safety in trauma: Understanding adverse events, assessment tools, and the role of trauma video review. Am J Surg. 2024 Apr 27:S0002-9610(24)00264-2.
- 9. Naveed A, **Gomez D, Rezende-Neto J,** Ahmed N, **Beckett A**. Advanced Non-compressible Torso Hemorrhage Management is Combat Casualty Care's Moon Shot. Military Medicine. 2024 Mar 1;189(3-4):59-61.
- 10. Nikouline A, Feng J, Rudzicz F, Nathens A, **Nolan B**. Machine learning in the prediction of massive transfusion in trauma: a retrospective analysis as a proof-of-concept. European Journal of Trauma and Emergency Surgery. 2024 Jan 24:1-9.
- 11. Radulovic N, Wu R, **Nolan B.** Predictors of survival in trauma patients requiring resuscitative thoracotomy: A scoping review. Trauma. 2023;0(0). doi:10.1177/14604086231156265
- 12. Smith SA, Hilsden R, Patton P, Vogt K, **Beckett A**, Ball IM. Management of Rib Fractures in the Combat Environment. Journal of Special Operations Medicine: a Peer Reviewed Journal for SOF Medical Professionals. 2024 Mar 8:FTLJ-MQXX.
- 13. Yin G, Radulovic N, **O'Neill M**, Lightfoot D, **Nolan B**. Predictors of transfusion in trauma and their utility in the prehospital environment: a scoping review. Prehospital Emergency Care. 2023 Jul 4;27(5):575-85.

Our Year







\$3.6 million
GRANT FUNDING

58
PAPERS PUBLISHED



Prom media outlets such as CBC,
Hospital News, and Canadian Blood
Services



